IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2013-CA-00966

DEBRA BARTLEY-RICE

APPELLANT

V.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE
INSURANCE COMPANY, IDALAN HAYMON,
AND JUDY AUSTIN

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT
ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

HONORABLE TYVESTER GOSS, MSB# 4920
GOSS & WILLIAMS
1441 Lakeover Road
Jackson, Mississippi 39213
Tel: (601) 981-2800
Fax: (601) 981-7979
Email: tgoss@dgwlaw.com
Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2013-CA-00966

DEBRA BARTLEY-RICE

APPELLANT

V.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE
INSURANCE COMPANY, IDALAN HAYMON,
AND JUDY AUSTIN

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO REQUIRE THE JURY TO CLARIFY ITS VERDICT WHERE THE GENERAL VERDICT FORM WAS IN OBVIOUS CONFLICT WITH THE SPECIAL VERDICT FORM?

WHETHER THE JURY VERDICT EVINced BIAS, PREJUDICE AND PASSION AS TO REQUIRE A NEW TRIAL?

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

This appeal arises from a negligence action tried in the Circuit Court of Holmes County. Aggrieved by the disposition of the trial, Debra Bartley-Rice, hereinafter “*Bartley-Rice*”, filed this appeal asserting that the trial court erred when it failed to make the jury clarify its verdict where the general verdict form was in obvious conflict with the special verdict form. Bartley-Rice further contends the jury verdict is unsupported by the evidence and evinces bias, prejudice or passion by the jury.

On or about August 5, 2011, Bartley-Rice filed a negligence action against State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company¹, Idalan Haymon and Judy Austin in the Circuit Court of Holmes County seeking monetary damages for personal injuries suffered as a result of an automobile accident. (CP, p. 8 -15) A jury trial was held May 7 - 8, 2012. (TT, p. 1) The jury returned a general verdict form in favor of defendants, Idalan Haymon and Judy Austin, which read:

We the jury conclude that the accident was unavoidable in any event, and returned a verdict for the defendants Idalan Haymon and Judy Austin.

The amount of damages is 0

¹At the time of the accident, Bartley-Rice had underinsured motorist coverage with State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company and sued them based on that coverage. Subsequent to entering a final judgment in favor of Idalan Haymon and Judy Austin, the trial court determined there existed no viable basis for the underinsured motorist claim since the jury *allegedly* found in favor of defendants. As such, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company is a not a party to this appeal.

(CP, p. 457)(RE 3). In direct conflict with the general verdict, the jury returned a special verdict form, which apportioned sixty-six percent (66%) fault for the accident to defendants. Specifically, the special verdict form read:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

DEBRA BARTLEY-RICE
VS.
EDALAN HAYMON AND
JUDY AUSTIN

PLAINTIFF
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2011-00283
DEFENDANTS

SPECIAL VERDICT FORM 27

In returning your verdict in this case, you are to consider all of the facts and instructions of law given to you and return your verdict by filling out this form. When your verdict has been reached, write out your answers to the following questions on this form and notify the Clerk that you have reached your verdict:

1) Do you find that the person or vehicle who dropped the tire on the road was guilty of negligence which proximately caused damages to the Plaintiff?
Yes ✓ No ✓

2) Do you find that the person who stopped his or her car in the road was guilty of negligence which proximately caused damages to the Plaintiff?
Yes ✓ No ✓

3) Do you find that the Plaintiff, Debra Bartley-Rice, was guilty of negligence which proximately caused her damages?
Yes ✓ No _____

4) Do you find that Edalan Haymon was guilty of negligence which proximately caused damages to the Plaintiff?
Yes ✓ No _____

5) Do you find that Judy Austin was guilty of negligence which proximately caused damages to the Plaintiff?
Yes _____ No _____

ENTERED
Mins. Clk. 105 Pg. 284
Dock. Clk. _____ Pg. _____
J. J. M. L.

RECORDED
"A"

FILED
MAY 10 2013
CLERK OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
K. J. M. L.

Yes ✓ No ~~✓~~ K.C.

6) If you answered "Yes" to any of the above questions, then
list the proportion, or percentage, of negligence which you attribute to each of those persons.

Unknown driver of vehicle who left tire debris
on the roadway _____ %

Unknown driver of red vehicle who stopped his or her car
in the roadway _____ %

Plaintiff Debra Bartley-Rice 33.3 %

Defendant Idalan Haymon 33.3 %

Defendant Judy Austin 33.3 %

(These figures should add up to 100%.)

7) What is the amount of damages that you find by a preponderance of the evidence to have
been incurred by the Plaintiff as a result of the accident in question?

\$ 0

(CP, p. 453 -457)(RE 3). The trial court entered a *Final Judgment* in favor of defendants. (*Id.*) This appeal arises out of the conflict between the general verdict form and the responses to the interrogatories set forth in the special verdict form. The general verdict form indicates the jury found no liability on the part of defendants but the special verdict form indicates the jury found liability and apportioned sixty-six percent (66%) of fault to defendants. As such, Bartley-Rice asserts that this Honorable Court should reverse and remand this matter for a new trial since the lower court erred when it failed make the jury clarify its verdict where the general verdict form was in obvious conflict with the special verdict form.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about August 8, 2009, Bartley-Rice was driving North on Interstate 55 in Madison County, Mississippi when she noticed the vehicle traveling directly in front of her slam on brakes and swerve. (TT, p. 25) The vehicle which was driven by an unidentified driver slammed on brakes and swerved to avoid commercial tire debris left in the middle of the road. (TT, p. 25 - 26) Once Bartley- Rice noticed the actions of the unknown driver, she changed lanes and continued to travel northbound on Interstate 55. (TT, p. 26) Judy Austin, hereinafter “*Austin*”, was traveling behind Bartley-Rice and when she noticed Bartley-Rice changing lanes, she attempted to change lanes. (TT, p. 27) As Austin changed lanes, she collided with the vehicle driven by Idalan Haymon, hereinafter “*Haymon*”. (TT, p. 27 - 28) After colliding with the vehicle driven by Austin, Haymon lost control of her vehicle and rearended the vehicle driven by Bartley-Rice. (TT, p. 28). Haymon, on the contrary, asserts

that she did not rearend the vehicle driven by Bartley-Rice, but rather Bartley-Rice crossed into her lane and hit her vehicle. (TT, p. 95).

As a result of the accident, Bartley-Rice suffered a torn rotator cuff and soft tissue injury to her back and neck as a result of the accident. (TT, p. 31 - 42). She underwent surgery to correct the torn rotator cuff. (TT, p. 31- 42). Because of the injuries, plaintiff suffered pain and discomfort and was unable to perform her household duties. (TT, 43 - 44). Plaintiff was seen by several different physicians on numerous occasions and at the time of trial, she still experienced pain and discomfort in her shoulder. (TT, p. 46 - 48). As a result of the accident, she incurred over \$40,000.00 in medical bills and expenses. (TT, Exhibits, p. 28 - 220).

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error when it failed to make the jury resolve the conflict between the general verdict form and the special verdict form. The general verdict form indicates the jury found no liability on the part of defendants but the specific verdict form indicates the jury found liability and apportioned sixty-six percent (66%) of fault to defendants. Because of the unresolved conflict between the general verdict form and the special verdict form, this Honorable Court should reverse and remand this matter for a new trial.

In the alternative, the zero damages verdict shocks the judicial conscience and raises an inference that bias, passion, prejudice, or other improper cause invaded the purview of the

jury since the jury found the defendants liable and apportioned sixty-six percent (66%) of fault to them. The lack of a damages award is directly contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence which clearly indicated, *without dispute*, that Bartley-Rice suffered personal injuries and medical bills as a result of the accident. Therefore, this Honorable Court should reverse and remand this case for a new trial on damages only.

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A new trial may be granted “*when the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or when the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result of bias, passion and prejudice.*” *Bobby Kitchens, Inc. v. Miss. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 560 So.2d 129, 132 (Miss. 1989). A new trial should be granted where an “*error within the trial mechanism itself has caused a legally incorrect or unjust verdict to be rendered.*” *Solanki v. Ervin*, 21 So.3d 552, 569 (Miss. 2009).

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO REQUIRE THE JURY TO CLARIFY ITS VERDICT WHERE THE GENERAL VERDICT FORM WAS IN OBVIOUS CONFLICT WITH THE SPECIAL VERDICT FORM.

Mississippi law generally presumes that “*jurors follow the trial judge’s instructions, as upon their oaths they are obliged to do.*” *Parker v. Jones County Community Hosp.*, 549 So.2d 443, 446 (Miss. 1989). The facts of this case, however, take this case out of the purview of that general rule. In other words, the presumption that the jury followed the law as instructed has been sufficiently rebutted, which requires this Honorable Court to reverse and remand this case for a new trial.

Where the form of the verdict is ambiguous, confusing and improper, the trial court on its own initiative, should order the jury to return to the jury room to reform and reword their verdict so that the verdict is in proper form. *Saucier v. Walker*, 203 So.2d 299 (Miss. 1967); *Harrison v. Smith*, 379 So.2d 517 (Miss. 1980)(where a jury returns a verdict that is defective and improper, the court has the duty to require the jury to reconsider and amend or change its verdict). Specifically, Miss. Code Ann. §11-7-161 (1972) provides that “*if the verdict is not responsive to the issue submitted to the jury, the court shall call their attention thereto and send them back for further deliberation.*” Where a trial court fails to follow this procedure, the verdict may be reversed and remanded for a new trial. *Baham v. Sullivan*, 924 So.2 580 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

This procedure is further codified in Miss. Unif. Rules of Cir. & Cty Ct. Prac., Rule 3.10, which clearly requires the trial court, with proper instructions, to direct the jurors to reconsider the verdict where the verdict is so defective that the court cannot determine the intent of the jury. No verdict should be accepted until it clearly reflects the intent of the jury. The trial court is “*under the duty to see that loss of time and the expense of the trial should be nullified by the failure of the jury to put their verdict in proper form.*” *Universal C.T.T. Credit Corp. v. Turner*, 56 So.2 800, 803 (Miss. 1952).

In *Baham v. Sullivan*, 924 So.2d 580 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), plaintiff slammed on brakes to avoid hitting an unidentified driver that suddenly pulled into traffic, however, defendant, who was traveling behind plaintiff was unable to stop and rammed into the back

of plaintiff's vehicle. Plaintiff brought a negligence action against defendant. After a trial, the jury returned the following verdict:

We, the jury, determine John W. Sullivan to be 10 percent at fault, if any.

We, the jury, determine the absent driver of the third vehicle to be 90 percent at fault, if any.

We, the jury, assess Plaintiff Sheri Baham's damages at \$0.00.

We, the jury, assess Plaintiff Conway Baham's damages at \$0.00.

This Honorable Court found the verdict was not responsive to the jury instructions and such failure "*implicates the validity of the final judgment.*" *Id.* at 582. Specifically, this Court found that the jury's insertion of the phrase "*if any*" rendered the verdict indefinite, and in the absence of a definitive verdict, there was nothing upon which to predicate a final judgment. *Id.* In summary, this Court ruled, in relevant part:

After rendering of a proper verdict by the jury, then and only then was the circuit judge authorized to enter a judgment upon that verdict. Since there was no proper verdict, it was improper for the circuit judge to enter a final judgment. Therefore, we reverse and remand for a new trial.

In *Loyacono v. Travelers Insurance Company*, 2013 WL 811975 (Miss. Ct. App.), this Honorable Court found there was sufficient evidence of juror confusion and faulty instruction where the jury gave conflicting answers to special interrogatories. The trial court submitted special interrogatories to the jury with five questions. The trial court answered *Question One* before submitting the form to the jury. The interrogatories read, in relevant part:

1. Do you find that the Defendant, Watacha Shelby was negligent and caused or contributed to the accident in question? Yes X
No _____

3. Do you find that the collision of July 25, 2005, caused or contributed to by the negligence of Watacha Shelby, proximately resulted in injuries and damages to Kathryn Layacono? Yes _____ No _____

After considering the evidence, the jury returned a verdict indicating that defendant was not the proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries. This Honorable Court found that the trial court, by answering *Question One* directed a verdict for plaintiff, and as such, the jury's response to *Question Three* created a conflict which required a new trial.

The Mississippi Supreme Court, in *First Bank of Southwest Mississippi v. Bidwell*, 501 So.2d 363 (Miss. 1987), found the jury was confused where there was an obvious inconsistency in the jury's answer to an interrogatory and its award of actual damages. Plaintiff sued defendant bank for breach of contract and negligence for allowing a third party to enter his safe deposit box and remove the contents. The jury assessed damages to defendant in the amount of \$20,000 but returned a special interrogatory finding that only \$8,700 was removed from the safety deposit box owned by plaintiff.

Applying *Guidry v. Kem Mfg. Co.*, 598 F.2d 402 (5th Cir. 1979), a case which held that a new trial is generally required where there exists conflicting responses in special verdicts, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that "*based on the obvious confusion inherent in the jury's response, this case is reversed.*" Id. at 366.

The reasoning of *Bidwell* is further codified in Miss. R. Civ. P. 49(c), which reads:

The court, in its discretion, may submit to the jury, together with instructions for a general verdict, written interrogatories upon one or more issues of fact the decision of which is necessary to a verdict. The court shall give such

explanation or instruction as may be necessary to enable the jury both to make answers and to render a general verdict. When the general verdict and the answers are harmonious, the appropriate judgment upon the verdict and answers shall be entered. When the answers are consistent with each other but one or more is inconsistent with the general verdict, judgment may be entered consistent with the answers, notwithstanding the general verdict, or the court may return the jury for further consideration of its answers and verdict or may order a new trial. *When the answers are inconsistent with each other and one or more is likewise inconsistent with the general verdict, judgment shall not be entered, but the court shall return the jury for further consideration of its answers and verdict or shall order a new trial.*

1. *The interrogatory answers given by the jury on the special verdict form are inconsistent with each other.*

A cursory review of the special verdict form completed by the jury clearly indicates the interrogatory answers are inconsistent. The jury allocated sixty-six percent (66%) fault to defendants but refused to award damages to plaintiff despite the fact that there was undisputed evidence that she suffered injuries as a result of the accident. This inconsistency is in direct contradiction to *Jury Instruction No. 23* which instructs the jury to award a “*verdict in an amount which will reasonably compensate the Plaintiff for the losses sustained*” if it finds the defendants liable. (CP, p. 438)(RE 4).

In *Harrison v. Smith*, 379 So.2d 517 (Miss. 1980), the jury returned a verdict in which it found plaintiff and defendant negligent but awarded no damages to plaintiff. The trial court accepted the verdict without any further activity and reformed the verdict by announcing the verdict was for defendants. The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and remanded for a new trial since the verdict was inconsistent with the comparative negligence instructions. The Court further held that the trial “*should have returned the jury to its room to further deliberate on a proper verdict.*” *Id.* at 519.

Like *Harrison*, the jury in the case *sub judice* returned a comparative fault verdict but failed to award damages. Consistent with the reasoning of *Harrison*, this Honorable Court should reverse and remand this matter for a new trial since the interrogatory answers given on the special verdict form are inconsistent with the comparative negligence instructions given by the trial court.

2. *The interrogatory answers given by the jury on the special verdict form are inconsistent with the general verdict form.*

A review of the special verdict form completed by the jury clearly indicates the interrogatory answers are inconsistent with the general verdict. The jury allocated sixty-six percent (66%) fault to defendants on the special verdict form but found the “*the accident was unavoidable*” and returned a verdict for the defendants on the general verdict form. (CP, p. 457)(RE 3). The special verdict form and general verdict form are squarely inconsistent since the special verdict form renders a verdict for plaintiff and the general verdict form renders a verdict for defendant.

Harrison v. Smith, 379 So.2 517, 518- 519 (Miss. 1980), sets forth the basic test used to determine whether a verdict is sufficiently clear. Specifically, *Harrison* holds, as follows: “*the basic test with reference to whether or not a verdict is sufficient as to form is whether or not it is an intelligent answer to the issues submitted to the jury and expressed so that the intent of the jury can be understood by the court.*”

Applying the *Harrison* test, it is abundantly clear that the special verdict form and general verdict form conflict to such a degree that the intent of the jury can not be understood

and the trial court lacked authority to reconcile the conflicting verdicts. Consistent with *First Bank of Southwest Mississippi v. Bidwell*, 501 So.2d 363 (Miss. 1987) and *Guidry v. Kem Mfg. Co.*, 598 F.2d 402, 406 (5th Cir. 1979), cases which held that a new trial is generally required where there exists conflicting verdicts, this Honorable Court should reverse and remand this matter for a new trial since the special verdict form and general verdict form are squarely inconsistent.

Furthermore, where the answers to the interrogatories set forth on the special verdict form are inconsistent with each other and one or more is inconsistent with the general verdict, Miss. R. Civ. P. 49(c) required the trial court to direct the jury to reconsider its answers and verdict or order a new trial. Since the trial court failed to direct the jury to reconsider its answers and verdict, this Honorable Court, applying Miss. R. Civ. P. 49(c), should reverse and remand this matter for a new trial. This reasoning is further supported by *Bidwell*, *Loyacono* and *Baham*, cases which hold that where there exists conflicting responses to the interrogatories on a special verdict form, a new trial should be granted. As such, consistent with *Bidwell*, *Loyacono* and *Baham*, this Honorable Court should reverse and remand this matter for a new trial.

C. THE JURY VERDICT IS UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND EVINCES BIAS, PREJUDICE AND PASSION BY THE JURY.

To determine whether a verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must view all evidence in the light most consistent with the jury verdict. *Motorola Commc'ns & Elecs., Inc. v. Wilkerson*, 555 So.2d 713, 723 (Miss. 1989). Proof of bias and

prejudice on the part of the jury is commonly proven by “*an inference, if any, to be drawn from contrasting the amount of the verdict with the amount of damages.*” *Gatewood v. Sampson*, 812 So.2d 212, 222 (Miss. 2002).

The verdict of zero damages to Bartley-Rice shocks the judicial conscience and raises an inference that bias, passion, prejudice, or other improper cause invaded the purview of the jury and that the damages awarded are contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence. Therefore, this Honorable Court should reverse and remand this case for a new trial on damages only.

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