#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **DEBRA BARTLEY-RICE**

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2013-CA-0966

## STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, IDALAN HAYMON AND JUDY AUSTIN

**APPELLEES** 

#### **APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI**

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE IDALAN HAYMON

## **ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED**

J. Seth McCoy, MSB #101577 William M. Dalehite, JR. MSB#5566 STEEN DALEHITE & PACE, LLP Post Office Box 900 Jackson, MS 39205-0900 Tel: 601/969-7054 Fax: 601/353-3782

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Bartley-Rice contends that because the jury filled out Special Verdict Form and then handwrote their verdict in favor of Haymon and Austin that the jury's verdict is contradictory, confusing and improper. Bartley-Rice thus argues that the trial court erred because it did not send the jury back to reword or reform their verdict.

Bartley-Rice further contends that the jury's award of -0- dollars in damages on both the Special Verdict Form and the handwritten verdict "shocks the judicial conscience" and raises an inference that bias, passion, prejudice or other improper causes influenced the verdict. Bartley-Rice also argues that the lack of damages awarded to Bartley-Rice is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Bartley-Rice's argument as it pertains to the trial court's actions in reforming the jury verdict is without merit and such has been waived. Counsel for Bartley-Rice was specifically made aware by the trial court, that the jury had filled out the Special Verdict Form and a handwritten verdict. Possessing this information, counsel for Bartley-Rice failed to object or request any relief with regard to the actions of the trial court regarding the verdict while in the courtroom, or at any time thereafter up to the filing of this appeal.

The present case goes above and beyond the mere failure of counsel for Bartley-Rice to object. In fact, Bartley-Rice's attorneys specifically *agreed* that the Court should not send the jury back and that the trial judge should conform the verdict by her orders. Counsel for Bartley-Rice agreed to this procedure knowing that both the Special Verdict Form and a handwritten verdict had been completed.

The Appellant's assertion of error regarding the trial judge's reformation of the jury's verdict is not ripe for review by this Court on appeal as such is being presented for the first time on appeal. In addition, Bartley-Rice's argument regarding the form of the verdict instructions presented to the jury has been waived and is not properly before this Court on appeal.

Substantively, the trial court's action regarding the jury's verdict was proper. The intent of the jury was easily ascertainable by the trial court. The definitive statement made by the jury's

-4-

handwritten verdict combined with the fact that the jury was *required* by the trial judge to fill out the Special Verdict Form and assign percentages equaling 100% illustrates the jury's clear intent and complete lack of confusion. The jury's intent is also evidenced by their failure to award damages to Bartley-Rice under either verdict.

The clear intent of the jury was further illustrated when the trial court, specifically asked the jury foreperson, in the presence of the entire jury if the verdicts were meant to represent the same thing and the foreperson confirmed that the two were intended to "mean the same thing."

Further, after the jury's verdict was read, the trial court polled the jury to determine that their intent had been reflected by the verdict read by the trial court. The jury unanimously confirmed the verdict. If there was any confusion with regard to the jury's intent, it was somehow shared by all twelve jurors and the trial judge.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. Standard of review

The instant appeal involves the trial court's reformation of the jury verdict and whether such verdict was unsupported by the evidence and indicative of bias, passion and/or prejudice.

The standard of review for jury verdicts is well established:

Once the jury has returned a verdict in a civil case, [the Court] is not at liberty to direct that judgment be entered contrary to that verdict short of a conclusion on [the Court's] part that, given the evidence as a whole, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found as the jury found.

Sivira v. Midtown Restaurants Corp., 753 So.2d 492 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing Starcher v. Byrne, 687 So.2d 737, 739 (Miss. 1997).

Ordinarily, a verdict is sufficient in form if it expresses the intent of the jury so that the

court can understand it or that the verdict is an intelligible answer to the issues submitted to the

jury. Wilson v. State, 197 Miss. 17, 19 So.2d 475, 475 (1944).

To determine whether the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, we look at the facts in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844(18) (Miss.2005).

Bartley-Rice cites the *Bobby Kitchens* case in her standard of review argument for the premise that a new trial can be granted when a verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or when the jury had been confused by fault jury instructions or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result of bias, passion and prejudice. [Appellant's brief at p. 7] The *Bobby Kitchens* case actually *affirms* the denial of the motion for new trial handed down by the trial court. See generally *Bobby Kitchens, Inc. V. Mississippi Ins. Guar. Ass 'n*, 560 So.2d 129 (Miss.1989).

The *Bobby Kitchens* case held that the "Court will reverse a trial judge's denial of a request for new trial only when such denial amounts to an abuse of the judge's discretion. *Bobby Kitchens*, 560 So.2d at 132.

In the present case, Bartley-Rice did not file any post-trial motion which alleged any error with regard to the jury's verdict form, or the trial court's reformation of the jury's verdict. [R. 458-460/RE.44-46] The motion for jnov or for new trial filed by Bartley-Rice as it pertains to the issues in this appeal was based generally on Bartley-Rice's argument that the verdict was allegedly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. [R. 459/RE.45] Bartley-Rice's motion was never set for hearing and was abandoned in favor of this appeal. [R. 461/RE.47] As such, the standard applied in the *Bobby Kitchens* case is inapplicable to the present case.

The *Solanski* decision is cited by Bartley-Rice for the proposition that where a "error within the trial mechanism itself has caused a legally incorrect or unjust verdict to be rendered" a

-6-

new trial is appropriate. **[Appellant's brief at p. 7]** The *Solanski* case also dealt with the trial court's denial of a new trial on the alleged basis that the jury's verdict was confusing, biased or prejudiced. *Solanski v. Ervin*, 21, So.3d 552, 570 (Miss.2009). The *Solanski* case is inapplicable in light of Bartley-Rice's failure to file and/or pursue a motion for new trial in this matter on the bases at issue in this appeal.

The *Parker* decision is cited generally by Bartley-Rice for the principle that jurors follow the trial judge's instructions. **[Appellant's brief at p. 7]** Bartley-Rice further alleges that the presumption that the jury followed the Court's instructions in the present case has been sufficiently rebutted. The *Parker* case involves a medical malpractice suit where statements were made regarding a party's "dis-fellowship" from his church. *Parker v. Jones County Community Hosp.*, 549 So.2d 443 (Miss.1989). As such, the case has no substantive applicability to the present situation.

Furthermore, Bartley-Rice's argument that the jury did not follow the law as instructed is incorrect. The jury in fact specifically followed the Court' instructions to fill out the Special Verdict Form and the instructions on that form that the percentages were to equal 100%. The jury further obviously chose to handwrite a verdict based on the unavoidable accident instruction.

## II. Scope of Bartley-Rice's appeal

This appeal is limited, based on Bartley-Rice's own notice of appeal to the "judgment entered in this case on May 14, 2013." **[R. 461-462/RE. 47-48]** Bartley-Rice's brief raises but two assignments of error, both relating not to the Final Judgment at issue but to the jury's verdict as read in open court at the conclusion of the trial.

This appeal is not based on the substance of any jury instruction or the jury instructions as whole. The appeal also does not address the sufficiency of any of the evidence presented at the

-7-

trial of this matter except as it relates to the award of zero damages. Any other issues are not under consideration.

# III. Bartley-Rice's argument regarding the trial court's reformation of the jury verdict is presented for the first time in the instant appeal

Bartley-Rice's first assertion of alleged error is that the trial court "erred when it failed to require the jury to clarify its verdict where the general verdict form was in obvious conflict with the special verdict form." **[Appellant's brief at p. 7]** This issue was not presented to the trial judge by counsel for Bartley-Rice at any time, either at trial following the reading of the verdict and the polling of the jury, or in Bartley-Rice's post-trial motion, which has since been abandoned in favor of this appeal. **[R. 458-460/RE. 44-46]** 

A party must raise an issue before the trial judge and receive a ruling to preserve the right to allege an error on appeal. *Haddox v. State*, 636 So.2d 1229 (Miss.1994), as modified on denial of reh'g, (June 14, 1994); *Bishop v. State*, 771 So.2d 397 (Miss.Ct.App. 2000). The failure to raise an issue at trial bars consideration on an appellate level. *Birkhead v. State*, 57 So.3d 1223 (Miss.2011).

More specifically, where a party makes no objection to the form of a verdict returned by the jury, that party is barred from raising errors related to such on appeal. *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85 (Miss.2005). In *Thorson*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that an objection to the jury's verdict was procedurally barred when the defendant made no objection to the form of the verdict when such was returned by the jury and read aloud by the Court and when the defendant further did not object to the form in the party's motion for new trial. See *Thorson* 895 So.2d at 100.

In the present case, counsel for Bartley-Rice did not object to the jury's verdict: when counsel was advised by the trial judge of the jury's decision, when the foreperson was interviewed in the presence of the full jury, when the verdict was read, when the jury was polled, or at any time prior to the jury being released. **[T.188-192/RE. 86-90]** Further, Bartley-Rice's attorneys did not raise the issue of the trial court's reformation of the jury's verdict in her post-trial motion, which has since been abandoned in favor of this appeal. **[R. 458-460/RE. 44-46]** 

The issue regarding the trial court's reformation of the jury's verdict is presented for the first time on appeal and is therefore procedurally barred.

# IV. Counsel for Bartley-Rice not only failed to object but actually agreed with the trial court's reformation of the verdict

Glaringly absent from Bartley-Rice's brief is a crucial piece of information regarding the

issues before this Court.

Not only did Bartley-Rice not object at any time to the jury's verdict either before or after such was read; Bartley-Rice's attorney actually <u>AGREED</u> on the record with the trial court's reformation of the jury verdict.

When the jury announced it had reached a verdict, the trial court advised counsel for all parties about the jury's decision. The trial judge spoke to counsel for all parties outside the presence of the jury and stated:

"What the jury did, they completed the special verdict form and then they wrote out a verdict. And it's not really contradictory, it ends up being the same thing. So I'm wondering, do you all want me to send them back ?" **[T. 188/RE. 86]** 

Counsel for Bartley-Rice was aware at that point that the jury had filled out both the

Special Verdict Form and a handwritten verdict.

Counsel for Bartley-Rice could have objected to the verdict form, moved for a mistrial and/or requested that the trial court send the jury back for additional deliberations. Bartley-Rice's attorney instead chose to agree to the trial court's reformation of the jury verdict and to take a

chance regarding the substance of the jury's verdict by agreeing that the jury should not be sent back and the trial judge should conform the verdict.

Counsel for Haymon suggested that the trial court conform the verdict as follows:

"I would just make it conform by your orders. Make it confirm (sic) to-I don't think they should redo it again, if it's the same thing." [T. 188/RE. 86]

Rather than objecting to that suggestion counsel for Bartley-Rice endorsed it and stated:

"I don't have a problem, if it's consistent, I don't have a problem with it. If it works out to about the same thing." **[T. 188/RE. 86]** 

The trial court then advised clearly that "The end result is the same". [T. 188/RE. 86]

Bartley-Rice's counsel responded (agreeing with counsel for Appellee Haymon) with: "Okay".

#### [T. 188/RE. 86]

Clearly, counsel for Bartley-Rice had specific knowledge of what the jury had done. Further, Bartley-Rice's attorneys had options for redress as to the jury's verdict to include sending the jury back and declaring mistrial. Bartley-Rice, by and through the actions and statements of her counsel, consented to "roll the dice" on the jury's verdict and specifically allow the jury's verdict to be conformed by Judge Lewis.

A party cannot refrain from making an objection, believing the answer may be favorable and then when such turns out to be unfavorable, seek to raise error. *Bounds v. State*, 688 So.2d 13462 (Miss.1997). Bartley-Rice's representatives, with knowledge of the verdict's form, should not be granted the ability to wait and see if a verdict is favorable to her before objecting to the form. In the present case, counsel for Bartley-Rice had specific knowledge as provided by the trial judge, regarding the verdict rendered by the jury and agreed to allow such to stand per the trial judge's conformation.

### V. The trial court specifically offered to have the jury go back and reform the verdict

Bartley-Rice argues in her brief that the trial court was in error because it did not require the jury to go back and reform the verdict. [Appellant's brief at p. 7] This alleged assignment of error is particularly disingenuous based on the fact that the trial court specifically offered this relief to counsel for all parties including Bartley-Rice and Bartley-Rice's attorneys chose not to take part in this relief. [T. 188/RE. 86] Instead, counsel for Bartley-Rice specifically agreed to have the jury verdict be conformed by Judge Lewis.

The present situation is totally different from those cases wherein trial courts were held to be required to send the jury back for more deliberations, in that counsel for Bartley-Rice affirmatively consented to the trial judge reforming the verdict. **[T. 188/RE. 86]** The trial court at bar should not be forced to direct the jury to return for more deliberations when all parties, after having been advised by the trial court of the form of the jury's verdict, consented to allowing the court to reform the verdict. It is not the job or duty of the trial court to save a party from her counsel's own decision and agreement.

Counsel for Bartley-Rice cannot have it both ways. The attorneys for Bartley-Rice needed to either take the relief that was offered by the trial court or live with the consequences of declining said relief.

# VI. The jury's intent was clear and the trial court's reformation of the verdict was proper

Regardless of Bartley-Rice's attorney's agreement with the trial court not sending the jury back, the trial court was not required to send the jury back under the present situation as the jury's intent was clear.

*Miss. Code Ann.* § 11-7-159 states "[i]f the verdict is informal or defective, the court may direct it to be reformed at the bar."

The Mississippi Supreme Court acknowledged a trial judge's ability to reform a jury

verdict to reflect a jury's intent in the case of *Hobbs Automotive, Inc. v. Dorsey*. In *Hobbs Automotive,* the Court upheld the trial judge's reformation of a verdict where the intent of the jury was clear. 914 So.2d 148 (Miss.2005). The Court in *Hobbs Automotive* noted that the trial court commented that the intent of the jury was clear despite the fact that the jury delivered "a kind of special verdict." 914 So.2d at 152.

In upholding the reformed verdict in *Hobbs Automotive*, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted that the "better" approach would have been for the trial court to have reviewed the verdict form in the presence of the attorneys, note that the verdict did not conform to the specific instructions and order the jury to return to the jury room to write a verdict that followed the exact language of the instructions. *Id.* at 152.

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